1964

# Utah Funeral Directors & Embalmers Association v. Memorial Gardens of the Valley, Inc. et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This was an action in the Lower Court seeking a Declaratory Judgment requesting that certain Business Practices of the Corporate Defendants be declared illegal; that those Business Practices involved violations of professional and ethical conduct regulations for Embalmers and Funeral Directors as provided for in Sections 58-9-10, and 22 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953; and also violations of the so-called Pre-need law as contained in Section 22-4-4, Chapter 39, Laws of Utah 1955



and as amended in Chapter 45, Laws of Utah 1957. Plaintiffs further sought a declaratory Judgment decreeing that the pre-need contracts (R. 8-12, 19-20 and 39-41) issued and sold by the Defendants, and through their associates, are insurance contracts, in consequence of which, said Contracts and the Defendants would be subject to the Insurance Regulations of the State of Utah supervising said Contracts as Insurance Contracts and said Defendants as Insurance Companies. This Court is requested to determine the issues of this case from the pleadings in the Record of the lower Court, and the copies of the pre-need contracts and affidavits, also that part of the Record which is either part of the pleadings or which has been made part of the record otherwise (R. 8-12, 19-20, 39-41 and 35).

In this case it is necessary that the Plaintiffs, and it should be of interest to the Defendants, to know the legality of the practices complained of. The corporate Defendants carry on activities which vitally affect every mortician and funeral director in the state and leave such morticians and funeral directors in a dilemma.

If in fact the practices are legal, then it is essential that the various morticians and funeral directors cooperate under one or more of the plans carried on by the defendants or a similar plan by some other company; if they fail to do so they will suffer a competitive disadvantage which will directly and detrimentally affect the business which they carry on. In fact, it is not too much to say that if the business practices carried on by the corporate defendants are legal, within the not too distant

future the vast majority of funerals conducted in the State of Utah will be conducted pursuant to financing plans instituted by one of these defendants or someone else in a similar business. Therefore, any mortician or funeral director that did not cooperate in such a plan might find it difficult to continue to exist.

On the other hand, if such plans are illegal, the Plaintiffs might well, if they cooperate in such plans, find themselves guilty of unethical conduct and find their license subject to revocation.

The Plaintiffs, therefore, seek a Construction, and a determination of the validity and legality, of the practices complained of, and the Contracts before the Court.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This Case was brought before the Lower Court for a Determination of the issues on a Motion for a Summary Judgment (R. 32-35) asking for a declaration:

(a) That a licensed Embalmer or Funeral Director performing services pursuant to a pre-need contract obtained by solicitation is guilty of unprofessional and unethical conduct as defined in Sections 58-9-10 and 22 of U C A 1953 and subject themselves to a possible revocation of their license.

(b) That pre-need contracts providing future funeral services such as those used by the Defendants are insurance contracts and are not legally issued unless the company issuing the same qualifies as an insurance company under the insurance laws of Utah.

(c) That pre-need contracts are in violation of law unless they provide that all the earnings and interest on monies paid in shall be held in trust until death of beneficiary and paid to no other person but the named payor as provided in Sections 22-4-1 to 22-4-7 as enacted by Chapter 39, Laws of Utah 1955 and as amended in Chapter 45, Laws of Utah 1957.

The matter was argued before the Court without introduction of further evidence. The Defendants raised the issues of, and challenged (a) the constitutionality of portions of the pre-need law in Title 22, Chapter 4, *Supra*; and (b) whether or not there was a justiciable issue between the Plaintiffs and the Defendants and before the Court and the capacity of the party Plaintiffs to sue.

The lower Court denied the Plaintiffs' motion for Summary Judgment; decided in favor of the Defendants on their claim that certain portions of the pre-need law are unconstitutional; and found in favor of the Plaintiffs declaring that the Plaintiffs had legal standing to prosecute the action and that there existed a justiciable issue between the Plaintiffs and Defendants.

The Plaintiffs respectfully refer the Court to the final decree of the lower Court as contained in the lower Court's Record on file herein (R. 44-48).

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

A review is hereby sought from this Honorable Court, under the Plaintiffs' rights of appeal, of the decision of



the lower Court. The Plaintiffs feel that the lower Court erred in its decisions in the particulars set out by the Plaintiffs in their Statement of Points which follow and seek a reversal of the lower Court's decision on those points.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### I.

THAT CONTRARY TO THE COURT'S DECISION, ANY FUNERAL DIRECTOR OR EMBALMER, WHO PERFORMS FUNERAL SERVICES OR FURNISHES BURIAL FACILITIES PURSUANT TO A PRE-NEED CONTRACT OBTAINED BY SOLICITATION BY EITHER OF THE DEFENDANTS, SOLICITED OR SOLD BY AND FOR THEMSELVES, OR WHICH RESULTS TO THE BENEFIT OF A FUNERAL DIRECTOR OR EMBALMER WHO PERFORMS THE FUNERAL SERVICES OR FURNISHES THE BURIAL FACILITIES, IS GUILTY OF UNPROFESSIONAL AND UNETHICAL CONDUCT AS DEFINED IN SECTIONS 58-9-10 AND 58-9-22 OF THE UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

### II.

THAT CONTRARY TO THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION, THE CONTRACTS SOLD BY THE DEFENDANTS ARE ALL SUBJECT TO THE PRE-NEED LAW OF UTAH, AND THE CONTRACT USED AND ISSUED BY THE DEFENDANT, MEMORIAL TRUST, INC., IS PARTICULARLY IN VIOLATION OF THE

PRE-NEED LAW OF THE STATE OF UTAH AS CONTAINED IN SECTION 22-4-4, CHAPTER 39, LAWS OF UTAH, 1955 AND AS AMENDED IN CHAPTER 45, LAWS OF UTAH, 1957, AND THAT SAID DEFENDANTS' PRE-NEED CONTRACT PARTICULARLY PERMITS SAID DEFENDANT TO DEMAND AND RECEIVE THE EARNINGS OF THE TRUST FUNDS AND PAY SAID FUNDS TO SAID DEFENDANT CONTRARY TO THE PROVISIONS OF SAID SECTION 22-4-4 AFORESAID.

### III.

THAT CONTRARY TO THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION, THE PRE-NEED CONTRACTS, BEING SOLD BY THE DEFENDANT COMPANIES AND WHICH ARE THE SUBJECTS OF THE CONTROVERSY IN THIS CASE, ARE INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND SUBJECT TO THE INSURANCE LAWS OF THIS STATE AND THEREFORE, SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY THE UTAH STATE INSURANCE DEPARTMENT, AND THAT THE SAID DEFENDANT COMPANIES, ISSUING SAID CONTRACTS ARE ALSO SUBJECT TO THE INSURANCE LAWS OF UTAH AND THE REGULATIONS OF THE STATE INSURANCE DEPARTMENT OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

### IV.

THAT CONTRARY TO THE LOWER COURT'S DECISION, THOSE PORTIONS OF SECTIONS 22-4-1, 22-4-2, 22-4-4, 22-4-5 AND 22-4-7 OF THE PRE-NEED LAW OF THE STATE

OF UTAH, CHAPTER 39 OF THE 1955 LAWS OF UTAH AS AMENDED BY CHAPTER 45 OF THE 1957 LAWS OF UTAH AND WHICH SECTIONS ARE QUOTED IN THE LOWER COURT'S AMENDED JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL, DATED SEPTEMBER 18, 1964 (R. 46) ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THAT CONTRARY TO THE COURT'S DECISION, ANY FUNERAL DIRECTOR OR EMBALMER, WHO PERFORMS FUNERAL SERVICES OR FURNISHES BURIAL FACILITIES PURSUANT TO A PRE-NEED CONTRACT OBTAINED BY SOLICITATION BY EITHER OF THE DEFENDANTS, SOLICITED OR SOLD BY AND FOR THEMSELVES, OR WHICH RESULTS TO THE BENEFIT OF A FUNERAL DIRECTOR OR EMBALMER WHO PERFORMS THE FUNERAL SERVICES OR FURNISHES THE BURIAL FACILITIES, IS GUILTY OF UNPROFESSIONAL AND UNETHICAL CONDUCT AS DEFINED IN SECTIONS 58-9-10 AND 58-9-22 OF THE UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

Those portions of Sections 58-9-10 and 58-9-22 of the Utah Code Annotated 1953 that are pertinent to this Appeal read as follows:

58-9-10: "The words 'unprofessional conduct' as relating to embalming are hereby defined to include: \* \* \*

(7) Solicitation of dead human bodies by a *registered apprentice or licensed embalmer, or*

*their agents, assistants or employees, whether such solicitation occurs before or after death \* \* \**

(8) *Employment, directly or indirectly, of any apprentice, agent, assistant, embalmer, employee, or other person, on part or full time or on commission, for the purpose of calling upon individuals or institutions by whose influence dead human bodies may be turned over to a particular mortuary establishment, funeral director, or embalmer; provided this provision shall not be deemed to prevent and prohibit the solicitation for sale of crypts, burial lots or cremation services by a licensee or his employee.*

(9) The buying of business by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees, or the direct or indirect payment or offer of payment of a commission by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees for the purpose of securing business; or the direct or indirect giving or offering to give any bonus, or gift for the purpose of securing business.

58-9-22: The words "unprofessional Conduct" as they relate to this act, are hereby defined to include: \* \* \*

(c) Solicitation of funeral business by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees, whether such solicitation occurs before or after death \* \* \*

(d) *Employment by the licensee of persons known as "capers" (cappers) or "steerers" or "solicitors" or other such persons to obtain funeral directing or embalming business.*

(e) *Employment, directly or indirectly, of any apprentice, agent, assistant, embalmer, employee or other person, on part or full time,*

or on commission, for the purpose of calling upon individuals or institutions *by whose influence dead bodies may be turned over to a particular funeral director.* \* \* \*

(f) The buying of business *by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees, or the direct or indirect payment or offer of payment of a commission, bonus or gift by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees for the purpose of securing business.*”  
(Emphasis added)

Regardless of the way in which it might be said, the purpose of such statutes in the various states is, to eliminate unnecessary commercialization of death; to curtail any practice that resembles competitive bids for dead bodies; and to generally denounce and label as unprofessional and unbecoming, the solicitation of dead bodies for burial except by accepted and approved methods of general advertising.

A determination of this question will decide whether or not funeral directors and embalmers are going to be permitted to raise themselves to the status of a profession, or whether they are going to be governed by the more relaxed rules of open and cut-throat competition with its many flagrant abuses and fraudulent practices. These laws have been upheld as constitutional and are supported in one form or another by most, if not all, states.

The Defendants are contending that they do not operate directly as either a Funeral Director or an Em-



balmer, and that they are not subject to the unprofessional conduct statutes herein referred to. That they are free to solicit, negotiate, sell, and perform all the commercial acts related to the solicitation of dead human bodies prohibited to funeral directors and embalmers as evidenced by the pleadings in this case and the contracts of every Defendant of record in this case. They all promise to furnish, among other things, a complete funeral, embalming and interment, either through their own facilities, or the facilities of licensed funeral directors and embalmers of the State. (R. 8, 9, 12, 19, 40 rear side) It is interesting to note the efforts of the Defendants to disengage themselves from the effect of the Statute when in actual practice they are engaging in all the essential activities of funeral directors and embalmers or *selling for themselves or selling their services* to licensed funeral directors and embalmers of the State of Utah. If they are not acting as a funeral director or an embalmer, they can't possibly escape the relationship of being either "agents, assistants, employees, cappers, steerers, solicitors, or other persons" on part or full time, or on commission, for the purpose of calling upon individuals so as to have the dead human bodies turned over to themselves or a particular funeral director even though he is later to be designated. (Sec. 58-9-10 (8) and 58-9-22 (e) U C A 1953 quoted above) The violation, and the evil, is in acts of solicitation which are intended to benefit, and do result in benefiting, licensed funeral directors contrary to the statute. The evil is not less vile, less unethical, nor less evil because it is committed by the defendants.

Note that Defendant, Memorial Gardens of the Valley (R 8) as the "Company," agrees to do every act done by a licensed funeral director and embalmer. If they were licensed as funeral directors they could not solicit. Why should they be allowed to do so for themselves or others just because they have no license.

Defendant Memorial Trusts, Inc., agree to provide *everything* that goes with a funeral. They agree that such services are "to be performed by a listed Mortuary or other Mortuary" selected by the heirs of the deceased. (R. 9) This is also the Agreement of the Defendant Aultorest Memorial Corporation, who agree to "cause a complete funeral" to be conducted at their expense. (R. 12)

Note that Defendant Lake Hills also agrees to a complete funeral but that those "funeral services can only be performed by a mortuary authorized by Lake Hills." (R. 40 rear side) Again the Defendants urge full rights to violate the unprofessional conduct statute even though they are openly and conspicuously soliciting either for themselves or licensed funeral directors. They claim immunity only because they are not licensed as funeral directors or embalmers.

If a licensed embalmer or funeral director violates the provision against solicitation, his license is subject to revocation. The question here to be determined is whether or not funeral directors and embalmers being themselves prohibited from soliciting may, through subterfuge, enjoy the fruits of solicitation. It appears that

the corporate defendants find themselves in a dilemma in regard to this matter. If in fact they are qualified themselves to render the services as embalmers or funeral directors, they certainly are in direct violation of the statute if they solicit. If they themselves are unable to render the services in question, the sale of an agreement automatically makes them subject to the insurance code, as we will discuss in a later succeeding section, but does not relieve the licensed funeral directors or embalmers with whom they do business of the obligation to observe the ethical standards of his profession. If in fact those of the corporate defendants who are not qualified to render embalming or funeral directing services have a pre-existing agreement, however informal it may be, with any licensed embalmer or funeral directors that such licensed embalmer or funeral director, or one to be named or designated later, will render the services contracted for by such Defendant, then the Defendant becomes the agent or representative of the funeral director or embalmer so concerned, and while the Defendants claim the ethical rules of the profession would not affect the Defendant sales company, it would affect the licensed embalmer or funeral director for whom they purport to act.

The Plaintiffs maintain the Defendants are all violating the unprofessional conduct statute above quoted because of their acting as agents, employees and representatives of the particular licensed funeral director and embalmer involved. That by a relationship such as this, they also jeopardize the license of the licensed funeral

director. The Defendants' case is an admission they are soliciting, but they want immunity. The Plaintiffs, in this appeal, do not contend that the Defendants are under an express contract of appointment with any licensed funeral director in the State of Utah, with arrangements for direct payments of compensation, through commissions or otherwise. The Plaintiffs do claim that that which is illegal and forbidden to be accomplished directly, cannot be legal if accomplished indirectly. The Defendants have elected to put themselves in the position of giving and providing to any licensed funeral director, who will accept benefits under, and who will agree to carry out their contracts indirectly, the full benefits of the very acts of solicitation, which the licensed funeral directors and embalmers are otherwise prohibited to practice or turn to his benefit, whether by his own acts or the acts of his agents or employees.

One thing is certain, that the Pre-need Contracts of the Defendants, already referred to in this case, are not the simple contracts made between two parties where Party A assumes burdens for which he is responsible on the one hand and Party B in consideration thereof, assumes burdens for which he is responsible on the other.

It is equally as certain that even though the contracts in question purportedly are between A and B parties, these contracts do have the distinctive additional feature of providing that a third party, namely a licensed funeral director and embalmer in the State of Utah shall be the party to carry out and perform the provisions of

the pre-need contract of the defendants. At the time the Contract is consumated, both of the original parties contemplate and state in open, express terms that a licensed funeral director and embalmer shall, upon election, and if willing, be the performing party. The buyer *knows* he must look to someone beyond the Defendants (agent) to get what he has purchased. (Restatement of the Law, 2nd Edition, Agency, Section 85, p. 217.)

This is agency by ratification. In this latter situation which is the case before the Court, we find all the elements necessary to create that relationship.

The first essential to the relationship is that the Agent has no authority to bind his principal. In our cases the Defendants set out in their contracts what the funeral directors will do but this does not bind the funeral director because the inclusion of the funeral directors is unauthorized. (Sec. 208 of Agency, Vol. 2, American Jurisprudence) When the funeral director is later selected and agrees to perform, he is bound to the contract as written by the defendant and is subject to every provision in the contract and every rule applicable to the relationship of ratification by a principal.

The funeral director or embalmer, if and when he agrees to go ahead (ratify), has no right to change the terms without consent and must accept the contract terms as written. This acceptance or ratification by the funeral director makes the acts of the Defendants in selling the contract, the act of the funeral director as though the funeral director himself had created the contract



in the beginning. (See *Moses v. Arch McFarland & Sons* (Utah 1951), 119 Utah 602; 230 Pac. 2nd 571, 573; also *Yellow Jacket Boat Co. v. Little Glasses Corp.* (Okla. 1959), 338 Pac. 2nd 1105).

Any funeral director that accepts, and agrees to perform, even though he has been merely described, or listed as one of a specific group, causes his "ratification" and his obligation to perform to be equally as binding as though he had been named and identified by name. Agency law does say there must be an identification of the principal to have agency by ratification. In Restatement of the Law on Agency, 2nd Edition, Sections 85 and 87, we read as follows:

85. Subsection 1 (c) Principal Unidentified:

It is not necessary that the purported principal be identified; it is sufficient that the person acting should purport to act as agent for another, but if he describes the other by name or otherwise, only a person coming within the description so given, if any, can ratify. If the description applies to two persons equally, only the one on whose account he intends to act can ratify.

87(a)—\* \* \* If he (the acting person) identifies the purported principal, it is only the affirmation of such person which can result in ratification. \* \* \* if a partial description is given, only a person who comes within it and who was intended by the person can ratify — \* \* \*

Plaintiffs maintain the Defendants are, under these rules, agents of the funeral director or any other persons who perform under their contracts and are therefore

subject to the unprofessional conduct laws referred to on solicitation. What is further serious, such actions jeopardize the position of the funeral director and make them also violators and subject to the loss of their licenses under the provisions of the laws referred to because they become liable as if they had been in on the contract from the beginning and must take the burdens as well as benefits.

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