1965

# Utah Funeral Directors & Embalmers Association v. Memorial Gardens of the Valley, Inc. et al : Brief of Defendant-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT A FUNERAL DIRECTOR OR EMBALMER WHO PERFORMS SERVICES OR FURNISHES FACILITIES PURSUANT TO A PRE-NEED CONTRACT PREVIOUSLY SOLICITED AND SOLD BY MEMORIAL TRUSTS IS NOT GUILTY OF UNETHICAL OR UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTIONS 58-9-10 and 58-9-22, U.C.A., 1953, AND THEREBY SUBJECT TO REVOCATION OF LICENSE.

U.C.A., 1953, Sections 58-9-10 and 58-9-22, related to unlawful solicitation by licensed funeral directors and embalmers, provide in pertinent part as follows: (All emphasis added.)

58-9-10: "The words 'unprofessional conduct' as relating to embalming are hereby defined to include:

\* \* \* \*

(7) Solicitation of dead human bodies by a *registered apprentice or licensed embalmer, or their agents, assistants or employees*, whether such solicitation occurs before or after death \* \* \*

(8) *Employment directly or indirectly, of any apprentice, agent \* \* \* or other person, on part or full time or on commission, for the purpose of calling upon individuals or institutions by whose influence dead human bodies may be turned over to a particular mortuary establishment, funeral director or embalmer; provided*

this provision shall not be deemed to prevent and prohibit the solicitation for sale of crypts, burial lots or cremation services by a licensee or his employee.

58-9-22: "The words 'unprofessional conduct' as they relate to this act are hereby defined to include. \* \* \*

(d) *Employment by the licensee of persons known as 'capers' [cappers] or 'steerers' or 'solicitors' or other such persons to obtain funeral directing or embalming business.*

(e) *Employment, directly or indirectly, of any apprentice, agent, assistant, embalmer, employee or other person, on part or full time, or on commission, for the purpose of calling upon individuals or institutions by whose influence dead human bodies may be turned over to a particular funeral director \* \* \**

(f) *The buying of business by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees, or the direct or indirect payment or offer of payment of a commission, bonus or gift by the licensee, his agents, assistants or employees for the purpose of securing business."*

These two sections of the Funeral Directors' Act were designed to eliminate the unseemly race for dead human bodies and the many other flagrant abuses and fraudulent practices which were once so widespread in the

unregulated climate of an earlier period. See Section 58-9-13, which sets forth the policy of the law. To this end, these sections prohibit solicitation activity initiated by and for the direct benefit of a particular mortuary establishment, funeral director or embalmer, whether acting in person or through “agents, assistants or employees.” Similarly they prohibit employment of persons to steer funeral business to them and the “buying of business” by a “licensee, his agents, assistants or employees” by means of a “direct or indirect payment or offer of payment of a commission, bonus or gift.”

The activities and practices proscribed by these sections are set forth clearly and in detail. And no reasonable extension of the quoted language will support plaintiffs’ contention that a person or firm which performs embalming or funeral services, under a pre-need contract solicited by Memorial Trusts, is guilty of conduct proscribed as unprofessional by those sections of the law.

Under the contract now sold by Memorial Trusts the services contracted for are “to be performed by a Mortuary selected by the Funeral Purchaser,” provided Memorial Trusts is able to make firm arrangements with that mortuary “before the death of the Funeral Purchaser.”

Under this contract Memorial Trusts does not act as an “agent, assistant or employee” of any “particular

mortuary establishment, funeral director or embalmer." The mortuary used is selected by either the purchaser or his survivors, since the contract gives Memorial Trusts no right of mortuary selection. Once the selection is made, it then becomes the task of Memorial Trusts, "as agent for the Funeral Purchaser," to present the contract to the mortuary selected for its acceptance or rejection. However, in soliciting the contracts it acts as agent for itself only, it being at no time either employed, directed or controlled in any degree whatever by any mortuary, funeral director or embalmer.

Such a contract, and the practices followed in its sale and performance, conform to the legislative policy found in Section 58-9-13 and provide a sensible, dignified and thrifty method by which to solve, in advance of need, the universal problem of a proper funeral at a proper price.

If the Legislature had intended to prohibit sale of such contracts by organizations such as Memorial Trusts, it could easily have done so but, instead, the language employed in these statutes clearly limits their effect.

Significantly, plaintiffs' brief alleges no facts upon which it may properly be claimed that Memorial Trusts has engaged in any conduct prohibited by the statutes, nor does the record in this case contain any factual basis for a finding that a mortuary which accepts and per-

forms the obligations of a contract sold by Memorial Trusts has, by such acceptance and performance, violated the law.

The contention, made at pages 14-16 of plaintiffs' brief, that when a mortuary agrees to perform as provided in a pre-need contract, the corporate defendant which sold the contract becomes the agent by ratification of the mortuary, cannot apply to the contract of Memorial Trusts. As the cases and authorities relied upon to support that contention readily show, they deal with the wholly dissimilar situation where acts are "professed to be done" on the principal's account by "one not assuming to act for himself," but which acts the principal later ratifies.

In contrast to the foregoing, the contract of Memorial Trusts, as noted above, leaves the mortuary selection entirely in the hands of the purchaser and/or his survivors, and reserves no such right to Memorial Trusts. The arrangements with the mortuary of the purchaser's choice are then made by Memorial Trusts, not as agent of the mortuary, but, rather, "as agent for the Funeral Purchaser" (R. 19).

Certainly the purchaser himself is permitted to contact a mortuary of his choice and make such arrangements in advance of need without violating the above

statutes related to unlawful solicitation. Similarly, these same arrangements are permitted to be made by the purchaser's agent whether it be his wife, his friend, his employee or Memorial Trusts.

Memorial Trusts neither acts, nor assumes to act, nor has had authority to act as the agent of any mortuary. It acts only on its own behalf and on behalf of persons who purchase its contracts.

Unsupported allegations of mere legal conclusions may not be substituted for facts or evidence, especially where, as here, no attempt whatever was made by plaintiffs to introduce evidence in support of their reckless and unfounded suspicions of pre-existing agreements which did not in fact exist. The lower court properly ruled that it could not assume a violation of law merely because plaintiffs allege it, particularly where the allegation is, as in paragraph 12 of plaintiffs' complaint, base solely on *belief* and does not even reach the precarious foundation of "information and belief," and the record itself showed a full compliance with applicable statutes.

Plaintiffs' first ground of summary judgment, therefore, failed and was properly denied.

## POINT II

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE PRE-NEED CONTRACT OF MEMORIAL TRUSTS, AS ATTACHED TO ITS ANSWER AS EXHIBIT A, WHICH PERMITS MEMORIAL TRUSTS, AS REVOCABLE AGENT OF THE PAYOR, TO WITHDRAW EARNINGS FROM TRUST DOES NOT VIOLATE THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 22-4-4, U.C.A., 1953 (1963 Supp.)

Section 22-4-4, U.C.A., 1953 (1963 Supp.) governs withdrawal of entrusted funds and provides that:

“All payments and amounts so deposited, with all earnings and interest thereon, shall not be withdrawn until the death of the sole or one of the beneficiaries, *provided that said funds plus all interest and earnings shall be released to the payor originally paying said funds under the purchase agreement, and said payor shall be entitled to receive the same or any part thereof, at any time prior to the death of any beneficiary, upon demand upon said bank or trust company, and upon surrender of any pass book evidencing same.*” (Italicized portion was not quoted in appellants’ brief, p. 19-20.)

This statute does not require that the trust earnings “can’t be withdrawn” as the plaintiffs claim, but rather that they may be released to the payor at any time, on demand and surrender of the pass book.

There can be no doubt that under the above statute the right to control the earnings and interest of the trust rests in the contract purchaser—the payor. This being so, there can be no valid objection to the provision in paragraph IV of the contract of Memorial Trusts, where in the payor

“ . . . *revocably* appoints Memorial Trusts, Inc., as agent to demand and receive *earnings* of the trust funds and to pay the same to itself in exchange for and in consideration of the agreement . . . to guarantee the services and facilities . . . regardless of future price increases. The Funeral Purchaser agrees upon request to make such demand personally and pay said earnings to Memorial Trusts, Inc.” (R. 19) (Emphasis added.)

Nothing in the above statute nor in general law prohibits such disposition of an individual's property right by him or under his direction. Nor does any statute or principal prohibit a person from designating an agent to act on his behalf in the manner provided in this contract.

“Any person who is *sui juris* and has capacity to affect his legal relations by the giving of consent to a delegable act or transaction, may authorize an agent to act for him with the same effect as if he were to act in person.” 3 Am. Jur. 2d 424 (Agency, Section 9).

Where, as here, the appointment as agent extends only to the earnings of the trust (and not to withdrawal of "all funds, including earnings" as alleged by plaintiffs) and where such appointment can be revoked by the payor at any time, there is no possibility that the principal fund, out of which the services and facilities provided by the contract are to be paid, will be dissipated or unavailable when required.

If Section 22-4-4 were construed to prohibit or preclude withdrawal of earnings in this manner, it would be unconstitutional as an unlawful prohibition of a lawful business under the guise of regulation and an unnecessary, arbitrary and unreasonable restraint upon the right of all persons to make contracts and deal with their own properties. The constitutional aspects of the Utah pre-need law, Sections 22-4-1 to 7, will be discussed more fully under Point IV, *infra*, but it is important here to recall that one of man's basic rights, under our system of freedom and law, is the right to acquire, use and dispose of property. As stated by the Supreme Court of Utah, in *Ritholz v. Salt Lake City Corporation* (1955), 3 Utah 2d 385, 284 P. 2d 702:

"Clearly among the rights attendant upon ownership and enjoyment of property are the rights to exchange, pledge, sell or otherwise dispose of it—rights which must be adequately protected."

It will be noted that in the brief of the defendant Commissioners, the Attorney General concedes that the Commissioners (after a thorough review of this question, following conferences with representatives of plaintiffs and of Memorial Trusts) concluded that it had no objection to the business activities of Memorial Trusts in this respect.

Plaintiffs again have alleged no fact upon which to ground their attack upon the contract of this defendant. Again, merely to allege that a contract is improper does not make it so and plaintiffs' second demand for summary judgment was therefore properly denied.

### POINT III

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT THE PRE-NEED CONTRACT OF MEMORIAL TRUSTS IS NOT A CONTRACT OF "INSURANCE," SO AS TO REQUIRE SUBMISSION TO AND COMPLIANCE WITH THE UTAH STATUTES AND REGULATIONS WHICH APPLY TO INSURANCE COMPANIES.

Plaintiffs' contention that Memorial Trusts' pre-need funeral contract is a "contract of insurance," requiring Memorial Trusts to qualify as an insurance company, is not supported by either the statutory or the generally accepted definition or the basic concept of insurance and,

hence, cannot have the effect urged by plaintiffs. Moreover, as will be shown hereafter, the Utah pre-need funeral law itself negatives any such contention.

As is stated by the United States Supreme Court in *Helvering v. LeGierse* (1940), 312 U.S. 531 at 539:

“Historically and commonly insurance involves risk-shifting and risk-distributing. That life insurance is desirable from an economic and social standpoint as a device to shift and distribute risk of loss from premature death is unquestionable. That these elements of risk-shifting and risk-distributing are essential to a life insurance contract is agreed by courts and commentators.”

Typical of many state cases in which this same principle has been restated and applied are *In re Barr's Estate* (Calif., 1951), 231 P. 2d 876; *In re Smiley's Estate* (Wash., 1950), 216 P. 2d 212, and *South Georgia Funeral Homes, Inc. v. Harrison* (Ga., 1936), 188 S.E. 529. In the latter case the court applied the principle of risk-shifting and risk-distribution to pre-need funeral contracts in the following terms:

“... The contract now being sold by the defendant and by reason of the sale of which this contempt proceeding arose, is one wherein the defendant corporation, for a fixed and definite sum in hand paid or payable in installments, agrees to render and perform or cause to be rendered and performed for the purchaser or any one of his

family, certain funeral services . . . While the performance of the contract is contingent upon death, this in and of itself does not make it a contract of life insurance, nor does the fact that the fixed sum is payable in installments. There is nothing in the contract itself nor is there any evidence to show that the amount paid by a purchaser is less than the value of the funeral services contracted to be performed, or that there is any element of risk involved, either on the part of the purchaser or the defendant corporation. The contract on its face does not appear to be one of life insurance.”

The conclusions drawn above were referred to by Justice Crockett in his concurring opinion in *In re Clark's Estate* (Utah, 1960), 10 Utah 2d 427, 354 P.2d 112, in which he was joined by Justice McDonough. In that opinion he noted at page 118-119 that :

“ . . . the important and controlling fact [is] that the financing institution, Equitable, incurred no risk of loss in the event of Mr. Clark's death. It was obliged to pay nothing except to refund the payments he has made . . . plus interest thereon. . . . From the facts above discussed it seems quite unmistakable that the contract . . . does not have the characteristics to properly classify it as a contract for life insurance.

“ ‘Insurance’ is an agreement that, for a premium it receives, the insurer will pay to the beneficiary a stated sum upon the happening of a contingency such as death or other loss. It

involves risk on the part of the insurer to pay on the happening of the contingency and the spreading of the risk over the group who pay the premiums. Or, as is sometimes stated, 'insurance involves risk-shifting and risk-distributing.' ”

The concurring opinion concludes with this approving reference to a decision of the Supreme Court of New Jersey (*In Re Atkin's Estate* 18 A.2d 45) in an annuity case:

“The court placed emphasis on the fact that . . . the company assumed no risk of loss by reason of the premature death of the annuitant, and that its only risk was in case . . . [he] lived longer than expected. It reasoned in accordance with the views expressed above that because there was no risk-shifting or risk-distributing . . . but simply a return of the accumulated payments upon the death of the employee, that the fund was not life insurance. The Supreme Court of the United States similarly reasoned to the same conclusion in the case of *Helvering v. LeGierse*.”

After the *Clark* case was decided, the Utah Legislature, in 1963, changed the definition of “insurance” to include the concept of “risk.” Formerly, the statute provided that insurance was “. . . a contract whereby one undertakes to pay indemnity or pay a specified amount upon determinable contingencies,” but the 1963 amendment added the word “risk” to the last phrase,

so it now reads “. . . upon determinable *risk* contingencies,” Section 31-1-7, U.C.A., 1953, (1963, Supp.). (Emphasis added.)

The addition of the word “risk” to the statute, which plaintiffs have completely overlooked in their brief, makes even more compelling the conclusion that the risk features must be present in any contract for it to constitute insurance.

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